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INTRODUCTION

The Morrill Act, or the Land-Grant College Act as it
was called, became law with President Lincoln's signature
on July 2, 1862.1 The Blue Mont Central College, in Man-
hattan, Kansas, donated one-hundred acres of land and a
three-story building to the state of Kansas in hopes that
the first land-zrant college would be located there. The
offer was enough incentive for the leglislature of Kansas to
establish Kansas State Agricultural College, hereafter referred
to as Kansas State, at this location. The Reverend Joseph
Denison was elected President of Kansas State by the Board
of Regents July 23, 1863.2 Kansas State officially opened
September 2, 1863 with fifty-two students enrolled.>

The Morrill Act was for the benefit of agriculture and
the mechanical arts. It was to support colleges in which the
main object was to teach subjects that were related to agri-
culture and mechanics. Science, classic studies, and military
tactics were also to be taught. Music was not considered a

prdfession in which one could gain a livelihood but was taught

ljames cC. Carey, Kansas State University, The Quest
for Identity, manuscript, Chapter 2, p. 6. This manuscript
has since teen published by The Regents Press of Kansas in
Topeka, Kansas, 1977.

2Ju11us T. Willard, History of Kansas State Collere of
Agriculture aad Applied Science, (Manhattan, Kansas: Kansas
State College Press, 1940), p. 18.

3willard, p. 24.
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in the early years of Kansas State and also performed,

usually 1in conjunction with calisthenics.



CHAPTER ONE

1863 - 1879

Mrs. Eliza C. Beckwith was one of four on the faculty
when Kansas State opened its doors in 1863. She was the
teacher of music oa the melodeon and piano. The 1863-64
catalogue contained the following:

Instrumental Music 1s taught; also Vocal. The

institution is furnished with a fine Pilano Forte

and a Melodeon.4
Concerning cost, the catalogue stated, "In the Musical
Department #8.00 for the Melodeon and $10.00 for the piano.
Expenses always in advance."5

On December 2, 1863, the Regents elected J. Everts
Platt to be in charge of the preparatory department and
also professor of vocal music. He began his work September
1, 1864.6

C. Hubschman became professor of instrumental musilc,
December 15, 1864, following Mrs. Beckwith.’/ It was also at
this time that the Prudential Committee voted "“that one dollar
per term be charged for the use of the melodeon and two dollars

per term for use of the piano, in additlion to tuition on each."8

u1863—6h catalogue, p. 21.
51863-64 catalogue, p. 18.
éwillard, p. 19.
7Willard, p. 23.

8Prudential Committee Records, December 17, 1864, p. 7.
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In that same commlittee report the Prudentizl Committee voted
that they have full power 1ln the employment of muslc teachers.
They exercised their power by hiring Miss Emily M. Campbell as
teacher of lnstrumental music presumably to replace Mr. Hubsch-
man in 1865. Then arain in the very next year Mrs. Laura C.
Lee, the wife of a faculty member, was employed as instrumental
music instructor. Mrs. Lee resigned in December, 1867, and
Miss Campbell returned to take charge of instrumental music.?

The 1866-67 catalogue notes that year as the first year
diplomas were given to those who completed the full course in
vocal and instrumental music.10 It is difficult to say how
many received these diplomas, but it is interesting that only
fifteen students graduated from Kansas State from its opening
in 1863 until 1873.11  The resson for this was that a large
majority of the students were enrolled in the preparatory
department rather than in college classes. The 1886 fall
term "closed with an exhibition of vocal music and calisthenics,"12
It became tradition for thé music groups of the college to
perform at the close of each term in conjunction with calis-
thenics. It is obvious that the main purpose of music, at the
beginning, was practical and not art for art's sake.

The first mention of an actual piece being performed by

the music students at Kansas State was in the Manhattan Standard,

9Willard, p. 23.
1048¢6-67 c=talogue, p. 21.
11Carey. Chapter 2, p. 12,

12Faculty Records, -December 12, 1866, p. 5.
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the Manhattan weekly newspaper, January 2, 1869.

The cantata of Esther prepared under the directlion of

Prof. W. 5. Mills, an out-of-town gentlema2n, was pre-

sented Tuesday and Wednesday evenings. The concert

was a grand one. - The Musical talent of Manhattan can

hardly be equalled elsewhere.

At this time the instrumental music teacher's salary
was paid wlth the fees collected from the tuitioan required
of those enrolled in music classes. In the Eighth Annual
Report, 1870, (p. 5), the suggestion was made that instruction
in instrumental music should be offered at less cost and that
this could be done by paying the teacher a salary in part as
other teachers were paid. Fees were abolished for one term,
in the spring and fall of 1872, but were reinstzated for the
winter term in 1872-73. PFees for instrumental music were not
permanently abolished and the music faculty givean a salary
until 1893. Fees for vocal instruction were abolished in 1885
and Professor W. L. Hofer, who was teaching vocal music at that
time, was givea $500 a year.13

Apparently the first musician to leave a lasting mark
at the University was Mrs. Hattlie V. Werden who held the
position as instructor of instrumental music from 1869 until
1877, All sources indicate that she was a very talented
musician and was very interested in promoting the growth of
music at Kansas GState.

The progress of the instrumentzl music program under

Mrs. Werden was given quite a lot of publicity. The Manhattan

Standard, April 3, 1869 had this to say:

13y1112rd, p. 81.
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We are glad to learn that Mrs. Hattlie V. Werden, music
preceptress at the college, will alsc commence again
to give instructlons upon the pianoc forte, melodeon or
gultar to any who may wish her services in the clty.

Four months later this critlique appeared in the Manhattan

Standard on July 31, 1869.

The Sunday School concert last Sunday was very good
indeed. The children seemed to take new interest

in the exercises as well as several young ladies and
gentlemen. We cannot but think that these concerts
are increasing under the direction of the new corps
of officers. MWrs. Werden evidently has great skill
in drilling the children in singing and some of them
have beautiful voices.

In the Ninth Annual Report, 1871, (p. 42), Mrs. Werden reports:

I have had under my charge during the term 35 pupils,
namely, 20 piano, 11 organ and 4 guitar scholsrs.
These have been divided into eleven clasces of from
one to three scholars each, also one class styled "The
Teachers' Class," the pupils of this c¢lass being the.
assistant teachers, the object of which belng to gilve
them special instruction and drill in the art of teaching.
Mrs. Werden proposed to the Board of Regents in 1871 a graded
course of music. It was adopted the very next day.la For the
summer vacation, durineg 1872, Mrs. Werden went east to visit
the New England Conservatory of Muslc for the purpore of
studying methods to use in the graded course of music. 1In
the Tenth Annual Report, 1872, (p. 78-79), Mrs. Werden re-
ported teaching eighty-six different pupils in instrumental
music. The enrollment for the three terms totaled 141 in
thirty-two classes. Plano, organ, and guitar were taucht in

classes averaging one to six persons. She sald:

I find that my system of class teaching is essentially
the same as that which 1s giving the best satisfaction

14poard Minutes A, July 7, 1871, p. 79.
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and proving the most successful in the East.
The 1871-72 catalorue, (p. 23), had this to say about Mrs.
Werden's graded system.
A graded system of instrumental music (organ, piano,
melodeon, guitar) has been adopted in accordance with
- the most approved methods by which pupils are taught

in classes and pass regular examinations as in other

studies.

Music at Kansas State was no longer only at the preparatory
level. Mrs. Hattie V. Werden had made music more important

by promoting good music through public performances, providing
a solid music education by the graded system, and making
numerous reguests for better facilities. During the school
year 1871-72, two new instruments, an organ and a Chickeringl5
piano, were added to the department.16

Professor Platt had been teaching vocal music since he
was hired in 1863 and remained with the College until 1883.
When Professor Platt left, W. L. Hofer was asked to add vocal
music to his teaching load.

During President LCenison's term, Kansas State received
much criticism for not fulfilling its purpose as a land-grant
college. It seems subjects such as Greek and Latin and philos-
ophy were considered unnecessary ln learning how to farm. The

Regents along with other Kansans felt there was too much em-

phasis on the classical or liberal courses in relation to

15Chicker1ng, the oldest American firm of piano man-
ufacturers, was founded by Jonas Chickering in 1823. They
were pioneers in the use of the iron frame for grand planos.

16Nationalist, December 19, 1873.
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practical or applied training.

In 1873 the legislature passed a law reorganizing the
Board of Regents. The new Board for Kansas State called for
the resignation of all the members of the faculty, June 27,
1873. All members were rehired except President Denison.l?
This was a clever way of changineg the administration, snd it
was not the only time it was to occur.,

President John A. Anderson began his term September 1,
18?3.18 What had been a college offering a mixture of classical
and practical courses became a college which President Anderson
proposed:

...would graduate capable farmers and housewlves,

rather than agricultural experts, experimenters, pro-

fessors and editors. Accordingly, the course work

contains no Latin or Greek rubbish, no useless "abstract"
mathmatics, and no fancy “ologies"™ or "osophles."19

The 1873-74 catslogue further exemplified Anderson's
views by steting the following concerning vocal music.

Vocal Music was taught both as a sclence and an art.

It was not accepted as an industrial rejuired by the

schedule of studies, but heartily recommended to all

students for its intrinsic worth and its valuable

drill in vocalization. It was not presented as one of

those industrials by which a livelihood was to be earned.

The biennial catalogue, 1875-77, gave a list of depart-
ments offered by Kansas State. Men could choose from the

industrials and women could enroll in "dressmaking, printing,

telegraphy, scroll sawing, carving, engraving, photography,

17wil1ard, p. 29.
184311ard, p. 35.

19carey, Chapter 3, p. 14-c.
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and instrumental music."20

Mrs. Werden wanted to make sure music did not die a
slow death under the administration of Preslident Anderson.
In the Twelfth Annual Report, 1874, she reported on the
number of students in her classes and concluded with "a
few thoughts upon thils branch of education." She emphasized
the value of a knowledge of music and the difficulty of its
attainment. The music students showed their interest in the
subject with several performances. The 1874-75 school year

produced the cantatas Flower Queen, We will Crown our Queen

of Spring, and Belshazzar, Sources in the early years usually

failed to give the composers of the works which were performed.

In May of 1877, Mrs. Werden married Mr. I. K. Perry, 2nd
Miss Carrie Steele was employed as her successor for the year
187?-?8.21 Miss Steeie resigned at the end of the school year
because of insufficient remuneration even though she was voted
250 extra compensation for services as music teacher in Dec-
ember of 1877.22 W. L. Hofer was chosen to succeed her and
remained with the College until 1886 in the capacity of instru-
mental music instructor and later vocal instructor,

One important contribution of the Anderson administration

was the Industrialist, the newspaper of the College, which

first appesred April 24, 1875.23 It covered facts about

20yi11ard, p. 41.
21yi11erd, p. 52.
22Board Minutes A, December 19, 1877, p. 255.

23yi1lard, p. 530.
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Kansas State and activities of the faculty and student body
and was printed in various forms until May, 1955. Professors

Platt and Hofer both contributed articles to the Industrialist

in the paper's early years. PFProfessor Platt furnished an
editorial entitled "Music and Mental Culture" on March 27,
1860, and an article on "The Bismarck Jubilee" on June 4,
1881. Professor Hofer contributed an editorial in the October
11, 1879, issue entitled "Hints on Piano Playing." This
appeared during his first year on the faculty.

President Anderson resigned when he was elected to the
United States House of Representatives. If he were President
today, his ideas on education would probably be much different.
He was a gresduate of a classical school, and it was assumed he
knew what he was doing when he wanted to make Kansas State a
trade school where the object was to teach young people skill
in hand and machine work on the farm or shops and in the
household. He telieved that was the purpose of a land-grant
college and any subjects outside that purpose could be omitted.

It remained for later Presidents to develop a college
which would have a balanced smount of agricultural and
mechanical arts along with science, culture, and industrisl arts.

The reason muslc survived the Anderson administration |
was simply that it was a subject for women. President Ander-
son saw no harm in women taking music and felt 1t would make

them better persons in the homne.



CHAPTER TWO
1879 - 1918

George T. Fairchlld assumed the duties as President
of Kansas State on December 1, 18?9.2h Professors Platt
and Hofer had full charge of the Music LCepartment when
President Falrchild became head administrator. With the
duties of vocal instruction added to Profescor Hofer's
teaching load when Professor Platt resigned, it is no wonder
that Hofer resigned at the beginning of the fall term, 1886,
because of insufficlent strength. Althouzh Mrs. Hofer 1is
not mentioned as being a faculty member, the following was

stated in the Industrialist ccacerning her talent.

We merely state a fact, but one to which several
hundred persons herabout will make affidavit, when
we say that the solo, "Sing Sweet Bird," as rendered
by Mrs. Hofer at the commencement exercises, was one
of the most delightful musical performances that a
Manhattan audience has ever been favored with.25
During the Fairchild administration the music students
requested more interior organization for their performing
groups and names attached to distinguish the groups. The
Choral Union was a vocal organization which existed in Man-
hattan for many years. It consisted not only of Kansas State

students, but Manhattan music lovers as well. In 1879 the

24%0grey, Chapter 3, p. 15.

25TIndustrialist, June 12, 1880.
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Manhattan Cornet Band was reorganized and %245 was received
to buy new instruments for the group. This band was probably
the same type of band the Collere had from its beginning
only more highly organﬂzed.26 The Manhattan String Band was

~ the beginning of the College Orchestra. When the band per-

formed at commencement exercises in 1880, it had eleven members.27

Twice during President Fairchild's term, petitions were pre-
sented to the faculty to organize groups. The Faculty Records

from October 16, 1882, (p. 207) states:

A petition was presented from Professors Hofer, Walters,
and Popenoe and students Towery, Smith, Higinbothan,
Embry, and Miss Points, to be allowed to form a college
orchestra for the present year and to be allowed the use
of 2 room for practice.

Ry 1889 the College Orchestra had fourteen pileces.

The new orchestra has attracted considerable attention
because of its size and the good music furnished. It

is made up of two first violins, one second violin,

first and second cornet, first and second flute, pilccolo,
viola, e-flat alto [sic], b-flat trombone, violincello
{sic] , double bass, and piano.28

Faculty Records B, from September 27, 1886, (p. 38), sald

the following:

President read a petition for permission to organize a
college brass band, signed by L. B. Parker, M. A, Carlton,
and others. After discussion it was moved by Prof.
Kellerman that the request be granted under such re-
strictions as the faculty may impose. Carried.

A glee club was formally proposed in 1888 with a serles of
29

rules on organization and government.

26
27

Industrialist, August 23, 1879.

Industrialist, June 5, 1880.

28
Faculty Records B, February 6, 1888, p. 12.

29 Industrialist, October 12, 1889,
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President Fairchilld's adminlistration also brought about
the practice of inviting performers outside the community to
glve concerts and recitals in Manhattan, a practice that con-
tinues to thrive at Kansas State today (1977). The first re-
port of such a group in Manhattan was in the February 22, 1879,

issue of the Industrialist when the "renowned Hutchinson fam-

11y" was scheduled to give a concert at the Presbyterlan Church.
They have traveled in Europe and American for over
thirty-six yvears and have given more than eleven
thousand concerts.

On March 1, 1884 the Industrialist contained the following

advertisement.
Donovan's Tennesseeans, a colored troop, were billed
for a concert at the Colisseum under the auspices of

the Congregational Church for the evening of Thursday,
March 6.

When W. L. Hofer resigned in 1886, Professor A. B. BErown

was chosen to head the Music Department. The Industrialist

gave the following information about Mr. Brown.

Prof. A. B. Brown, of Springfield, Missouri, takes
up the department of music after an experience of
twenty years in similar work. He has an excellent
reputation for vocal training and capacity as leader
of orchestra, band, or choir, as well as for general
ability in instrumental tesching.30

Under the leadership of Professor Brown the public heard

Bohemian Girl31 presented by the Choral Union and the

cantata Jephtha ard His Dau;thter.32

301ndustrialist, August 21, 1886,

31 1n4ustrialist, May 26, 1888,

32 1 gustrialist, April 5, 1890.
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Professor Brown had won the admiration of Kansas State
and Manhattan audlences with these productions. He was given
the largest salary up to that time of 1,200 per year. This
was dene in October, 1893, when fees for instrumental music
were_abolished.33 The abolition of fees resulted in the larg-
est music classes in the thirty year history of the College.

In the vocal classes there are 109 students, and it
is hardly necessary to add that Prof. Brown 1is a
busy man.34

Professor Brown was also busy making the muslc program at
Kansas State conform to certain regulations. The Faculty
Records C, of October 30, 1893, (p. 105-€), reported the

following:

Special committee on plan for taking music under

changed conditions reported as follows: 1. Music shall
be taken as an industrizl by ladies only after required
jndustrials of the first year and after passing an
examination equivalent to one term in vocal music; 2,
Music to be assigned as an extra only when the student
does well in course; 3. Students shall not change
jndustrials at mid-term, btut may take music a&s an

extra under the usual restriction 2ny time; 4. Class
organization shall be wholly under the control of the
professor in charge; 5. Students in the music department
shall be subject to the csll of the professor for music
connected with college exercises; 6. Students shall be
members of the orchestra or band through connection with
the music department by assignment; 7. That those
reculations shall go into effect November 1st next.
Adopted.

On April 6, 1897, again the entire faculty was asked to
resign by the Board of Regents. Some were asked to return to

their positions and others resigned permanently. President

33w1113rd. Py Dl

3L’"Iru:lustrmlist. February 24, 1894,
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Fairchlld resizned permanently, giving the Board of Regents
the opportunity to make Thomas E. Will President.

President Will served the shortest term of any President
at Kansas State--July 1, 1897 to June 30, 1899.3° Dr. Carey
made an interesting observaticn abovt that short term.

Students entering K-State in 1896 received their

course assignments directly from the hand of

President Faircnild, studied their second and third

years under the administration of President Thomas

E. Will, and were handed their diplomas by Fresident

Ernest R. Wichols,36

Alexander B. Brown was re-employed by President Will and

remained for five years past Will's term. Near the end of

President Will's administration, the Industrialist had the

following report on the progress of the Music Department.

The Music department, for example, taught last

fall term 276 young pupils in vocal music, 20 young
men in the B band, 28 young men in the A band, 23
pupils in the orchestra, 57 on the piano, 8 on the
organ, 53 on the violin, 1 on the viola, 1 on the
cello, 1 on the double bass, 13 on the mandolin, 24
on the guitar, and 3 on the banjo--a total of 487,
This term the department 1s even more crowded. Oh!
for more roomt! 37

A new Board of Regents met May 11, 1899. It was a very
conservative group and felt the administration at Kansas
State was too liberal. At this meeting they asked for the
38

removal of President Will and four other faculty members.

The administration of Ernest R. Nichols began on July 1,

35willard, p. 105.
36Carey. Chapter 4, p. 1-a.

37 Inqustrialist, March, 1899, p. 192.

3®yillard, p. 125.
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1899.39 It was during President Nichols's administration
that the College Auditorium was erected.

Duriang the early years of Kansas State the music classes
and performances were located the same places other classes
were, which was anywhere that wasn't being occupled at that
particular time. The first mention of an actual performance

location on campus was in the Manhattan Reacon, June 6, 1872,

where complimentary notice appeared of a parlor coancert given
by Mrs. Werden in "Blue Mont Hall." This would have been the
first buillding on campus--the one given to the state by Blue
Mont Colleze. The next mention of space, or lack of 1it, was
in the Eleventh Annual Report, 1873, (p. 5).
The present buildings are wholly inadequate. Every .
room is crowded and classes in telegraphy, printing,
sewing and instrumental music are compelled to recite
in the chapel.
There was no chapel building on campus at this time. The
first so called chapel was in Anderson Hall and building did
not begin on Anderson until 18?9.1"0 The above reference to
the chapel was probsbly the same *"Blue Mont Hall® mentioned
earlier. 1In the 1876 reference was made to music rooms which

were being made more comfortable. These rooms presumably

were in the house that the Board Minutes made reference to

in 1873.

394illard, p. 129.

4OCharles C. Howes, editor, Kansas State University, A
Pictorial History 1863-1963, (Manhattan, Kansas; Kansas
State University Press, 1863), p. 26,
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The board voted to rent the house of General Davidson
to be used by the classes in music.41

In 1881 there were four buildings on campus in addition to
Anderson Hall, which was still under construction. The
Music Department was evidently assigned part of one of those

buildings as mentioned in the Industrialist, May 28, 1881.

That awful medley of noises--the joint or specilal
product of the piano and viol minor -and major--which
escapes from the musical end of the Mechanical Bullding,
more or less, at all hours of the night and day,
Sundays only excepted.
After the chapel in Anderson Hall was completed music classes
were held there and all music groups rehearsed on the stage
in the chapel. The Faculty Records C, January 19, 1887,
(p. 525) stated the following:
At the request of Professor Brown it was agreed that
the gallery doors and the south door shall be locked

during the forenoon to prevent interference with
music classes,

The space where the chapel was located in Anderson Hall is now
occupied by the Office of Admissions and Records (19??).“2
This same room is referred to as Recreation center in the
1930s and 1940s.

The College Auditorium was erected in 1904 and was used
to house most of the music classes, rehearsals, and perfor-
mances, It served the Music Department and the University
well in the first half of the century, but it became lin-

creasingly inadequate for modern needs. By the time the

Y1 Board Minutes A, July 30, 1873, p. 184.

uzCIarice Painter, interview held in Manhattan, Kansas,
October 10, 1977.
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Auditorium was more than fifty years old, 1t had become the
subject of controversy. In the 1960s it was referred to as
the "01d4 Auditorium," and many people thought the facility
was dlsgraceful.

World famous classical guitarist, Andreil Segovia,

emphasized the building's inadequaclies when he refused

to begin a concert because of the distractions of

swinging doors and cold temperature. While windows

rattled and floors creaked, he stood up and 1n halting

English but in a forceful manner said, "Shut the doori"43
Student organizations and faculty members launched an attack
on the old Auditorium building and took up an actlive campalgn
for new facilities. Many references were made to the "old
barn" or "let's burﬁ the barn." This encouraged the notion
that if it was destroyed that would in some way help the
Collece get rid of an eyesore. On January 15, 1965, an
arsonist or arsonists fired the old Auditorium. In a short
time it was completely gutted along with the loss of valuable
musical compositions and instruments. Other ejquipment belong-
ing to the departments of art and drama were also destroyed.uu
This was only a small act in the tumult of the 1960s and early
1970s that spread across most U.S. campuses.

The Music Department then made its home 1n Nichols
Gymnasium which was completed in 1911."’5 It provided some
of the space so desperately needed, but the Music Department

has always been in need of more room. The department had no

43Carey. Chapter 10, p. 2-Db.
nuCarey. Chapter 10, p. 3.
45yil11ard, p. 1.



